THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-001476

ORIGINAL

The State of South Carolina..... Respondent,

v.

BRANDON COX

.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

NOV 05 2018

Jason Scott Luck
jluck@garrettlawsc.com
Garrett Law Offices, LLC
1075 E. Montague Ave.
North Charleston, SC 29405
843.554.5515 (phone)
843.747.3198 (telefax)

and

Robert M. Dudek
rdudek@sccid.sc.gov
S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense
1330 Lady St., Suite 401
Columbia, SC 29201
803.734.1330 (phone)
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Is the trial court's refusal to charge a proper lesser-included offence to criminal sexual conduct, despite a request by trial counsel, reversible error?
- II. Is the trial court's refusal to exclude discussion of the Appellant's recorded jailhouse telephone call, which was never fully disclosed by the State, a reversible violation of Rule 5, S.C. Crim. P.?
- III. Is the trial court's refusal to allow re-re-direct examination on the Appellant's recorded jailhouse telephone call, once it was raised on re-cross examination, an abuse of discretion in light of the prejudicial nature of the conversation?
- IV. Is the trial court's exclusion of testimony describing the accuser's father's contact with a witness during trial an abuse of discretion?
- V. In the alternative, if the foregoing errors are considered "harmless", does their cumulative effect nonetheless mandate reversal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about May 26, 2015, Defendant Brandon Lee Cox was arrested for Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor, first degree ("CSC") and Sexual Exploitation of a Minor, Third Degree. ("SEM"). (R. pp. 9, 12, 398, 399). S.C. Code §§ 16-3-655(A)(1) & 16-15-410. The State alleged Cox, who at the time was residing in the household of Daniel Ingram, had on or about May 17, 2015, touched the vagina of Ingram's minor daughter while she was asleep at Ingram's house and recorded photographs of the acts on his mobile phone. (R. pp. 72, 74, 178, 398, 399).

Trial took place on June 19-20, 2017, in Pickens, South Carolina. (R. p. 4). Solicitors Chris Jones and Scott Todd represented the State, while attorneys David D. Cantrell, Jr. and Melanie Rumfelt represented Cox. (R. p. 4). The jury was sworn on June 19, 2017, the parties presented their opening statements, and the State began its case-in-chief. At one point during this day, Daniel Ingram approached witness Matthew Chapman and his mother in the parking lot of the courthouse, providing him instruction on how to testify and warning him the State was about to throw Chapman “under the bus” due to an unknown male’s DNA being found on the accuser. (R. pp. 222-236).

Trial continued on June 20, 2017. Chapman was eventually called as a witness, but the trial court excluded any examination regarding Ingram’s contact the prior day. (R. pp. 236-242). The State rested its case, and Cox presented his defense, which included Cox taking the witness stand on his behalf. During his testimony, Cox mentioned tattoos on his hands that he had obtained in jail. During re-cross, the State questioned Cox regarding a telephone conversation he had with his father about his motivation for getting these tattoos. (R. pp. 302-304). Cox objected, as this statement had not been provided to him pursuant to his Rule 5 / Brady request, though he had been informed of its existence. (R. pp. 2-3, 303-308). The trial court overruled this objection, and further disallowed Cox from engaging in re-re-direct examination of Cox regarding the jailhouse phone call. (R. pp. 309).

After Cox’s testimony, the trial court charged the jury. Cox moved to include with the CSC charge a lesser-included offence charge for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (“ABHAN”). The trial court denied this motion and charged the jury

with the law of CSC and SEM. The jury returned a guilty verdict on both counts later that evening. (R. pp. 388-389). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial [court], who will not be reversed in the absence of a prejudicial abuse of discretion.” State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 312, 642 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2007) accord State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 632 S.E.2d 845 (2006) (admission or exclusion of evidence); State v. Tyner, 273 S.C. 646, 258 S.E.2d 559 (1979) (extent of re-direct examination). “An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” Id.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Wrongfully Refused to Charge a Lesser-Included Offense.

The law to be charged to a jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Todd, 290 S.C. 212, 349 S.E.2d 339 (1986). A trial judge must charge a lesser included offense if there is any evidence from which the jury could infer the defendant committed the lesser rather than the greater offense. Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 350-351, 520 S.E.2d 614, 615 (1999). A trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993).

Trial counsel requested a charge for ABHAN, arguing that it was a lesser-included offense of CSC in the first degree. (R. pp. 316-17). The trial court denied this motion, stating: “There are clearly elements of sexual battery that have to be proven,

which are different from the element[s] of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. It's codified." (R. p. 318).

While the trial court was correct that ABHAN is now codified (and with new elements), common law ABHAN is a lesser included offense of first degree CSC. S.C. Code § 16-3-600(B)(1); State v. Primus, 349 S.C. 576, 564 S.E.2d 103 (2002). The South Carolina Legislature abolished common law ABHAN in 2010, but it also created new statutory assault and battery crimes. 2010 S.C. Acts No. 273. Of these statutory crimes, assault and battery in the second degree is the most similar to common law ABHAN.¹ See S.C. Code § 16-3-600(D)(1); State v. Murphy, 322 S.C. 321, 471 S.E.2d 739 (Ct. App. 1996). Further, CSC in the first degree contains all the elements of assault and battery in the second degree, thus the latter passes the so-called "elements test" and is a

¹ *Assault and Battery in the Second Degree*

A person commits the offense of assault and battery in the second degree if the person unlawfully injures another person, or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and:

(a) moderate bodily injury to another person results or moderate bodily injury to another person could have resulted; or

(b) the act involves the nonconsensual touching of the private parts of a person, either under or above clothing.

S.C. Code § 16-3-600(D)(1).

Common Law Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature

The common law offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) is an unlawful act of violent injury to another accompanied by circumstances of aggravation. Examples of circumstances of aggravation include the use of a deadly weapon, the infliction of serious bodily injury, the intent to commit a felony, great disparity between the ages and physical conditions of the parties involved, and the difference in the sexes. Other circumstances include indecent liberties or familiarities with a female, the purposeful infliction of shame and disgrace, and resistance to lawful authority.

State v. Murphy, 322 S.C. 321, ___, 471 S.E.2d 739, 740-41 (Ct. App. 1996) (citations removed).

lesser included offense of CSC in the first degree. E.g. Knox v. State, 340 S.C. 81, 530 S.E.2d 887 (2000); Murdock v. State, 308 S.C. 143, 417 S.E.2d 543 (1992).

While Cox's trial counsel did not specifically request assault and battery in the second degree, he did request a lesser-included assault charge. Instead of examining whether a lesser form of assault was appropriate, the trial court disallowed *any* lesser-included charge by taking the hyper-technical position that ABHAN was now "codified". This constitutes reversible error, and Cox's conviction must be reversed and remanded for retrial.

II. The Trial Court Wrongfully Considered Cox's Jailhouse Conversation with his Father.

During the cross-examination of Cox, the State raised the issue of jailhouse tattoos on Cox's hands, arguing it was an attempt to differentiate the appearance of his hands from those that appeared in incriminating cell phone videos. (R. pp. 296-299). The trial court allowed re-direct of Cox. (R. pp. 300-302). The trial court then allowed re-cross, where the State then referred to, for the first time in the trial, the substance of a recorded jail telephone conversation Cox had with his father:

Brandon, isn't it true that on occasion that you talked to your father and that you told him that you watched the video and that the person on the video did not have tattoos on their hands, that you have tattoos on your hands and once you show people that that is the key? And your dad asked you did you have the tattoos before you were in jail and you said yes, that a man named Joe gave them to you. Isn't that true?

(R. p. 303). Cox's trial counsel timely objected, arguing that the statement the State referenced had never been produced, though he had been informed the conversation had occurred. (R. pp. 305-307). When the trial court overruled this objection, Cox's trial counsel requested the trial court allow him to engage in re-re-direct examination of Cox,

which the trial court denied. (R. pp. 308-309). The trial court's admission of this line of questioning is reversible error under several theories:

A. The State's Withholding of Cox's Jailhouse Statement was a Violation of Rule 5, S.C. Crim. P.

Rule 5, S.C. Crim. P. provides in pertinent part: "Upon request by a defendant, the prosecution shall permit the defendant to inspect and copy or photograph: any relevant written or recorded statements made by the defendant, or copies thereof, within the possession, custody or control of the prosecution..." The record reflects that Cox's trial counsel requested materials pursuant to Rule 5, S.C. Crim. P. and Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and while the State did disclose the existence of Cox's jailhouse statement, the State admits that it never produced a recording or transcript of this statement. (R. pp. 2-3, 305-307).

For a Rule 5 violation to mandate reversal, the evidence withheld must be "material" and there must be resulting prejudice. State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 503 S.E.2d 214 (Ct.App.1998). "[E]vidence is material only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A 'reasonable probability' is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985).

The jury in this case was presented with damaging testimony that could reasonably create an inference that Cox obtained tattoos on his hands in order to deceive the jury and law enforcement. Cox had no opportunity to address or rebut these allegations once raised by the State. The State, both in its opening and its summation, did argue that Cox was attempting to "trick" the jury with his tattoos. (R. pp. 74, 334-35,

343). Had this un rebutted, prejudicial information not reached the jury, the State could not easily impugn Cox's veracity, thus prejudicing his defense. This Court must reverse the conviction below for this prejudicial violation of Rule 5.

B. Failure to Order Re-Re-Direct Regarding Cox's Jailhouse Statement was an Abuse of Discretion.

The test of whether a limitation on cross-examination is appropriate is "whether the jury possesse[d] sufficient evidence to enable it to make a discriminating appraisal of bias and incentives to lie on the part of the witnesses." United States v. Cropp, 127 F.3d 354, 359 (4th Cir. 1997). Courts have applied this standard to re-re-direct examination. See Salnave v. Ercole, 08-cv-5096-ENV, 2014 WL 3014536 (E.D.N.Y. Order dated July 3, 2014).

The allegations of Cox's jailhouse conversation gave the State an opportunity to make an unanswered attack Cox's credibility. Cox's hands also played a significant part of the State's opening statement and closing argument. (R. p. 74). Considering the frequency that the issue of Cox's hands arose in this action, the jury did not have enough information before it to make a "discriminating appraisal" regarding Cox's tattoos. The prejudicial introduction of this evidence demands Cox's convictions be reversed and this case remanded for a new trial.

III. The Trial Court's Wrongfully Excluded Evidence of the Accuser's Father's Contact with Witnesses.

During the trial of this matter, Daniel Ingram, the father of the accuser, confronted Matthew Chapman, who was a potential witness for the defense. (R. p. 21). During their exchange, Chapman claims "[Ingram] was trying to tell me how to answer questions and he told me some of the evidence the prosecution had in the case." (R. p. 225). Chapman

claimed Ingram told him that because the DNA evidence found on the accuser matched to an unknown male, the State was “going to try to throw [Chapman] under the bus...” (R. pp. 226-27). He also instructed Chapman to testify that he was on a trip with Ingram’s family on Memorial Day and that he slept in their house. (R. p. 225). Chapman felt intimidated by this conversation, as Ingram had threatened him before in other contexts.² (R. pp. 229, 231). The trial court ruled to exclude examination regarding this conversation, holding under Rule 403, SCRE that the conversation would only serve to confuse the jury. (R. p. 239).

A defendant has the right to cross-examine a witness concerning bias under the Confrontation Clause. Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308 (1974); State v. Brown, 303 S.C. 169, 399 S.E.2d 593 (1991); U.S. Const. amend. VI; U.S. Const. amend. XIV. “‘On cross-examination, any fact may be elicited which tends to show interest, bias, or partiality’ of the witness.” State v. Brewington, 267 S.C. 97, 101, 226 S.E.2d 249, 250 (1976) (quoting 98 C.J.S. Witnesses § 560a (1957)); see also Rule 608(c), SCRE (“Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.”). “The Confrontation Clause guarantees a defendant the opportunity to cross-examine a witness concerning bias. Considerable latitude is allowed in the cross-examination of an adverse witness for the purpose of testing bias.” State v. Brown, 303 S.C. 169, 171, 399 S.E.2d 593 (1991) (citations omitted).

Not only should the trial court have allowed Cox to examine Chapman on his contact with Ingram, it should have allowed Cox to recall Ingram (who had testified at

² The State euphemizes Ingram’s trial contact with Chapman as “encourage[ment]...to tell the truth...” (Trial Tr. p. 276).

this point) to cross-examine him on this matter. The trial court's refusal to allow examination on this topic is a violation of the Confrontation Clause, has prejudiced Cox as set forth in argument II, and is reversible error.

IV. In the Alternative, the Cumulative Effect of the Errors in this Trial Demand Reversal.

While Cox believes the errors identified in sections I-III are reversible, should this Court find them to be harmless then their aggregate effect nonetheless mandates reversal. Under the doctrine of cumulative error, "the aggregation of errors may produce a cumulative effect of prejudice, where individually, the prejudice is insufficient to justify reversal." State v. Freeman, 319 S.C. 110, 459 S.E.2d 867 (Ct. App. 1995). Additionally:

...the court must be alert to avoid even harmless, erroneous rulings that when considered together may undermine the fairness of the factfinding process. Consistent commission of erroneous rulings may well deprive an aggrieved litigant of due process unless the cumulative effect of the errors does not affect the outcome of trial.

Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, 459 S.E.2d 374, n.28 (W.Va. 1995).

"Pursuant to the cumulative error doctrine, the cumulative effect of two or more individually harmless errors has the potential to prejudice a defendant to the same extent as a single reversible error." U.S. v. Basham, 561 F.3d 302, 330 (4th Cir. 2009) (internal quotations omitted).