ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001476

RECEIVED
NOV 09 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

BRANDON COX,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0368

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

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

Standard of Review

"The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are based on an error of law. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of

evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice. State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995).

Under Rule 5(a)(1)(A), SCRCrimP:

Upon request of the defendant, the prosecution shall permit the defendant to inspect and copy or photograph: any relevant written or recorded statements made by the defendant, or copies thereof, within the possession, custody, or control of the prosecution, the existence of which is known, or by the exercise of due diligence may become known, to the attorney for the prosecution; the substance of any oral statement which the prosecution intends to offer in evidence at the trial made by the defendant whether before or after arrest in response to interrogation by any person then known to the defendant to be a prosecution agent.

(emphasis added). The State's failure to provide the defense with "material" evidence may be the basis for the reversal of a conviction; similar to Brady,³ "material" evidence is that which, if it had been disclosed to the defense, had a reasonable probability—a probability sufficient to undermine the confidence of the outcome—of changing the result of the legal proceeding. State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 452–54, 503 S.E.2d 214, 220 (Ct. App. 1998). "In determining the materiality of nondisclosed evidence, [a] [c]ourt will consider it in the context of the entire record." State v. Gathers, 295 S.C. 476, 481, 369 S.E.2d 140, 143 (1988). This Court in Kennerly further explained: "In a Brady analysis, information is not deemed 'material' if the defense discovers the information in time to adequately use it at trial." Kennerly, 331 S.C. at 453, 503 S.E.2d at 220; see also, State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 517, 702 S.E.2d 395, 403 (Ct. App. 2010) ("Evidence is not considered 'material' if the defense discovers the information in time to adequately use it at trial."). Further, "[t]he lack of demand . . . [of a continuance] is often taken as strong evidence that the discovery violation has not been prejudicial." 5 Wayne R. LaFave, et. al, Criminal Procedure § 20.6(b) (3d. ed. 2010); see also State v. Davis, 309 S.C. 56, 419 S.E.2d 820 (Ct. App. 1992) (the trial court's failure to suppress evidence of a defendant's

³ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

oral statements because the prosecution did not disclose the statements pursuant to Rule 5, SCRCrimP, despite a timely request for them, was upheld where the defendant was permitted to view and copy the prosecution's file and did not request a continuance or recess to review the prosecution's file).

Under Rule 5, SCRCrimP, the trial court has discretion to determine what remedy, if any, is necessary to protect a defendant's rights. Rule 5(d)(2), SCRCrimP, states that if a party fails to comply with Rule 5, the court may order such party to permit the discovery or inspection, grant a continuance, or prohibit the party from introducing the undisclosed evidence, or it may enter such other order as it deems just under the circumstances. Rule 5(d)(2), SCRCrimP; State v. Trotter, 322 S.C. 537, 473 S.E.2d 452 (1996). The remedy, or determination that no remedy is required, will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. See State v. Newell, 303 S.C. 471, 476, 401 S.E.2d 420, 423 (Ct. App. 1991) (citing 2 C. WRIGHT, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE: CRIMINAL § 261 at 16 (2d ed. 1982) (adverse orders regarding discovery may be reviewed on appeal but they must be affirmed unless the trial court abused its discretion)).

Analysis

In the instant case, the State's failure to provide the recorded phone call was harmless error given it was immaterial to the State's case and Appellant's defense. Tellingly, the phone call itself was not prepared for or submitted at trial because neither party disputed Appellant obtained his tattoos when he was incarcerated, after the sexual assault against Victim. The phone call, at best, was evidence that Appellant lied to his father about when he received the tattoos. The recording added nothing to the State's substantive evidence of Appellant's guilt discussed infra. See Kennerly, 331 S.C. at 452-54, 503 S.E.2d at 220 (stating evidence is not

material to guilt if it would not likely have affected the outcome of a defendant's legal proceeding).

Further, use of the recording was also immaterial and harmless because, to the extent it was used at trial, it was presented to the defense. See Moses, 390 S.C. at 517, 702 S.E.2d at 403. Trial counsel admitted he knew the State possessed the recorded phone conversation between Appellant and his father and that Appellant told him he obtained the tattoos before his confinement. When asked about the phone call, Appellant admitted it occurred and explained he lied to his father because Appellant wanted him to firmly believe Appellant could not have committed the crime and so he would not lose his father's love and respect. Appellant also testified he knew officers had photographed his hands after his arrest so getting the tattoos would not impact the trial. Thus, trial counsel and Appellant had enough information to prepare for the State's questioning, a fact supported by the record. Id. Moreover, re-re-direct examination was unnecessary because, as noted by the trial judge, Appellant did not dispute the contents of the call and fully explained the comments he made to his father. See Newell, 303 S.C. at 476, 401 S.E.2d at 423.

Given the immateriality of the recorded phone call, Appellant was not prejudiced by the State's reference to it during his re-cross examination.

III.

The trial judge correctly prevented trial counsel from questioning witness Matthew Chapman regarding a conversation he had with Victim's father during the trial because such information was irrelevant to the trial as there was no indication the father's statements were either intended to or actually caused Chapman to change his testimony. Further, such questions would only have confused the issues and served only to cast vague aspersions on father's veracity. To the extent Appellant argues the trial judge's refusal amounts to a violation of the Confrontation Clause, such argument was not raised to the trial judge and is inapplicable because Chapman was one of Appellant's witnesses and his testimony was not adverse to Appellant's defense.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in preventing trial counsel from questioning Chapman, in front of the jury, about his conversation with Father in which Father requested Chapman testify about what he witnessed in days around the discovery of the cell phone videos of Victim. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. First, the State notes any arguments related to the Confrontation Clause and Appellant's assertion trial counsel should have been allowed to recall Father are unpreserved for Appellate review because they were not raised to the trial judge. Additionally, the trial judge did not err in refusing to allow the questioning because the conversation was irrelevant to Appellant's trial; Chapman testified Father only asked him to tell the truth, which Chapman had already planned to do, and that the conversation did not affect his trial testimony. The only purpose for questioning Chapman on this matter in front of the jury would be to cast vague aspersions on Father's veracity. Further, even if Appellant's Confrontation Clause argument were preserved, the trial judge's refusal to allow trial counsel to question Chapman on this issue was not a violation of the Confrontation Clause because Chapman was a defense witness under the control of trial counsel and his testimony was not adverse to Appellant's defense.

Issue Preservation

The State notes both the Confrontation Clause argument and claim that trial counsel should have been permitted to recall Father for further cross-examination are not preserved for review by this Court. At trial, trial counsel failed to argue either point. Because the trial judge was denied the opportunity to rule on these arguments, these issues are not preserved for appellate review. See Dunbar, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 693–94; also Bakala v. Bakala, 352 S.C. 612, 625 S.E.2d 156, 163 (2003). (“A due process claim raised for the first time on appeal is not preserved.” (citing Grant v. South Carolina Coastal Council, 319 S.C. 348, 461 S.E.2d 388 (1995)); State v. McWee, 322 S.C. 387, 391, 472 S.E.2d 235, 238 (1996) (finding defendant failed to preserve issues relating violations of due process and his Eighth Amendment rights as they pertained to his parole eligibility because defendant never cited any constitutional basis for his request for such a charge).

Standard of Review

A defendant demonstrates a Confrontation Clause violation when he is prohibited from engaging in otherwise appropriate **cross-examination** designed to show a prototypical form of bias . . . from which jurors . . . could draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness.” State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 372, 731 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012) (emphasis added). “The right to meaningful cross-examination of an adverse witness is included in the defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to confront his accusers. This does not mean, however, that trial courts conducting criminal trials lose their usual discretion to limit the scope of cross-examination. On the contrary, ‘trial judges retain wide latitude insofar as the Confrontation Clause is concerned to impose reasonable limits on such **cross-examination** based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, witness’ safety, or interrogation that is

repetitive or only marginally relevant.” State v. Aleskey, 343 S.C. 20, 33, 538 S.E.2d 248, 255 (2000) (citing Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986)) (emphasis added).

“The principal evil at which the Confrontation Clause was directed was the civil-law mode of criminal procedure, and particularly its use of ex parte examinations as evidence **against the accused.**” Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 50 (2004) (emphasis added). Generally speaking, the Confrontation Clause guarantees an opportunity for effective **cross-examination**, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish. Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20 (1985) (emphasis added).

“Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to **impeach** the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.” Rule 608(c), SCRE (emphasis added). However, “[s]pecific instances of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness’ credibility, other than a conviction of crime as provided in Rule 609, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence.” Rule 608(b), SCRE (emphasis added). In the discretion of the court, **if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness**, specific instances may be inquired into on **cross-examination** if the specific instances concern “the witness’ character for truthfulness or untruthfulness” or “concerning the character for truthfulness or untruthfulness of another witness as to which the character the witness being cross-examined has testified.” Id. (emphasis added).

Analysis

The State notes the trial judge prohibition against questioning Chapman on his conversation with Father could not have been a Confrontation Clause violation because the clause concerns an accused’s right to meaningful **cross-examination** of **adverse** witnesses. See Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 678. Chapman was a defense witness and provided favorable testimony

to the defense. Trial counsel gave no indication he doubted Chapman's veracity, and if he had he could have dealt with the situation by cementing his credibility during direct examination or by simply not calling the witness.

On the merits, the trial judge properly refused to allow trial counsel to question Chapman in front of the jury regarding his conversation with Father because it was irrelevant to the issues at trial; there was no evidence of any bias on the part of Chapman in favor of the State. Chapman was a defense witness who provided testimony favorable to Appellant. Chapman, who reported the conversation with Father to trial counsel, was clear that Appellant did not threaten him and only instructed him to tell the truth, and that he had already planned to testify honestly and in a manner consistent with Father's request. Notably, Chapman did not testify, nor did trial counsel allege, that Father's statements impacted Chapman's truthfulness. Accordingly, because there was no indication of bias, prejudice, a motive to misrepresent, or untruthfulness on the part of Chapman, the trial judge correctly prevented trial counsel from questioning Chapman about his conversation with Father. See Rule 608(b) SCRE (stating specific incidents of conduct may only be inquired into on cross-examination if probative of a witness's character for truthfulness or untruthfulness); Rule 608(c), SCRE (evidence of bias, prejudice, or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach that witness through examination or evidence otherwise adduce); State v. Burgess, 393 S.C. 396, 712 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2012) (stating that while incidents documented in law enforcement officer's employment records might show the officer was hot-tempered, the trial court properly denied cross-examination about the matters because they did not show bias or otherwise relate to credibility where the incidents occurred after the defendant's arrest and did not relate to the defendant or the manner of the defendant's apprehension).

Moreover, no prejudice is shown and any error in the exclusion of the evidence is harmless. See Van Arsdall, 475 U. S. at 684 (finding the constitutionally improper denial of a defendant's opportunity to impeach a witness for bias, like other Confrontation Clause errors, is subject to harmless-error analysis); see also State v. Whatley, 407 S.C. 460, 468–69, 756 S.E.2d 393, 397 (Ct. App. 2014) (stating a violation of the Confrontation Clause is subject to a harmless error analysis and whether error is harmless depends on a number of factors, including the importance of the witnesses' testimony in the State's case, whether the testimony is cumulative, the presence of corroborating or contradictory testimony of the witness on significant points, the extent of cross-examination conducted by the defendant, and the strength of the State's case.). Chapman's testimony was ultimately irrelevant to Appellant's conviction. As discussed infra, the State had overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt, including the video of Appellant's hands while he was abusing Victim and the undisputed fact that the video was found on Appellant's phone.

Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in preventing trial counsel from questioning Chapman about his conversation with Father.

IV.

This Court should deny Appellant's request for a new trial based on the Cumulative Error Doctrine because said theory is not recognized under South Carolina law. Further, the issue is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant failed to present this ground for relief to the trial judge.

Appellant argues the cumulative effect of the errors argued above create reversible error in his case. The State disagrees with this allegation. This ground was neither raised at trial nor in a motion for new trial and is therefore not preserved for review. Further, the trial judge's decisions were not error and do not justify the grant of a new trial.

Standard of Review

The exact name of the legal doctrine employed does not need to be used to preserve an argument, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground. State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001).

The cumulative error doctrine provides relief to a party when a combination of errors, insignificant by themselves, has the effect of preventing the party from receiving a fair trial, and the cumulative effect of the errors affects the outcome of the trial. State v. Beekman, 405 S.C. 225, 237, 746 S.E.2d 483, 490 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing State v. Johnson, 334 S.C. 78, 93, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999)). An appellant must demonstrate more than error in order to qualify for reversal pursuant to the cumulative error doctrine; rather, he must show the errors adversely affected his right to a fair trial to qualify for reversal on this ground. Id.; see also State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 150, 731 S.E. 2d 604, 617 (Ct. App. 2012) (stating, "even if the court did commit any errors, we believe those errors to be harmless such that Hollie can show neither prejudice, nor that the errors affected her right to a fair trial"). The Constitution entitles a

criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one. State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 199-200, 498 S.E.2d 642, 647-48 (1998) (finding reversal on cumulative error doctrine not warranted).

Analysis

Despite the numerous issues presented on appeal, the record reflects the trial court exercised its discretion soundly at each instance. The trial judge did not charge the jury on ABHAN because, under current law, it is not a lesser-included offense of first-degree CSC with a minor. Moreover, the trial judge properly excluded questions regarding questions regarding Father's contact with Chapman because it was irrelevant to the determination of Appellant's guilt. Similarly, the trial judge did not penalize the State for failing to provide the defense with a copy of the recording of Appellant's call with his father because it was immaterial to Appellant's guilt.

Appellant's attempt to stack the deck does not change the equation: the sum of all zeros is still zero. Moreover, the cumulative effect of any errors this Court might find fails to undermine the fact that Appellant did receive a fair trial. This case does not warrant reversal on grounds of cumulative error. "As we have stressed on more than one occasion, the Constitution entitles a criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one." Mitchell, 330 S.C. at 199-200, 498 S.E.2d at 647-48 (finding reversal on cumulative error doctrine not warranted). In the case at hand, Appellant received a fair trial.

V.

Any purported error alleged by Appellant is harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Even if this Court determines the trial judge erred in one or more of issues argued by Appellant, such error is harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Standard of Review

Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006); State v. Heller, 399 S.C. 157, 171, 731 S.E.2d 312, 320 (Ct. App. 2012). Thus, an insubstantial error not affecting the result of the trial is harmless where a defendant's guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached. Bryant at 518, 633 S.E.2d at 156. "A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case: No definite rule of law governs a finding of harmless error; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Further, it is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence." Heller at 171, 731 S.E.2d at 320.

Analysis

In the instant case, should this Court find the trial judge erred in the ways argued by Appellant, any such error is harmless due to the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Videos of Appellant abusing Victim were found on Appellant's phone. Notably, Appellant does not dispute the videos showed Victim being abused in her home. Further, in those videos, Appellant's hands are easily identified by his bracelet and the presence of unique markings on his skin, and those identifying characteristics were also found in the pictures of Appellant's hands taken after his arrest. At the hospital, Appellant admitted to staff he knew the videos were

on his phone. Accordingly, the overwhelming evidence demonstrated Appellant was guilty of both charged offenses, rendering any alleged error harmless.

CONCLUSION